
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA
Civil Case No.                     

                                                                                                                                                

Craig Keefe,

Plaintiff,
COMPLAINT         

vs.

Beth Adams, Connie Frisch,
Larry Lundblad, Kelly McCalla, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
and Steven Rosenstone,

Defendants.
                                                                                                                                                

Plaintiff Craig Keefe, for his Complaint against above-named Defendants, states

and alleges as follows:

I.  INTRODUCTION

1. This is a civil rights action for money damages, and declaratory and

injunctive relief arising from the Defendants’ expulsion of Plaintiff from the nursing

degree program at Central Lakes College, a public college, for posts allegedly found on

Plaintiff’s private Facebook page.  Defendants’ undertook the removal without ever

providing Plaintiff with any specific explanation or notice describing the conduct that was

supposed to be objectionable or the rule that was violated, or even informing him that he

was facing discipline before the meeting that led to his removal.  Defendants failed or

refused to provide Plaintiff with any hearing or appeal process that complied with either

the College’s own published rules or clearly established due process protections required
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under the United States Constitution for public institutions. Plaintiff’s causes of action

include violations of his constitutional rights to Free Speech, to be Free from

Unreasonable Search and Seizure, and Due Process pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

II.  JURISDICTION AND THE PARTIES

2.  Plaintiff's causes of action consist of federal statutory civil rights

claims pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and thereby give rise to federal question jurisdiction

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  

3. Plaintiff Craig Keefe is a resident of Cass County, Minnesota. 

4. Defendant Beth Adams is and at relevant times hereto was the Dean

of Students at Central Lakes College, located in Brainerd, Crow Wing County,

Minnesota.  She participated in the process and decision to expel Plaintiff from the

College’s nursing program.  Said Defendant was acting under color of state law, and is

being sued in her personal and official capacities. 

5. Defendant Connie Frisch is and at relevant times hereto was Director

of Nursing at Central Lakes College, located in Brainerd, Crow Wing County, Minnesota. 

She participated in the process and decision to expel Plaintiff from the College’s nursing

program.  Said Defendant was acting under color of state law, and is being sued in her

personal and official capacities. 

6. Defendant Kelly McCalla is and at relevant times hereto was  the

Vice President of Academic Affairs at Central Lakes College, located in Brainerd, Crow
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Wing County, Minnesota.  He participated in the process and decision to expel Plaintiff

from the College’s nursing program.  Said Defendant was acting under color of state law,

and is being sued in his personal and official capacities. 

7. Defendant Larry Lundblad is and at relevant times hereto was the

President of Central Lakes College, located in Brainerd, Crow Wing County, Minnesota. 

He has authority over actions occurring at said College, including in relevant part, the

ability to overrule or rescind the expulsion of Plaintiff from the College’s nursing

program.  Said Defendant is acting under color of state law, and is being sued in his

official capacity.

8. Defendant Steven Rosenstone is and at relevant times hereto was the

Chancellor and Chief Executive Officer of Minnesota State Colleges and Universities,

which include Central Lakes College. He has authority over actions occurring at said

College, including in relevant part, the ability to overrule or rescind the expulsion of

Plaintiff from the College’s nursing program.  Said Defendant is acting under color of

state law, and is being sued in his official capacity.

III.  FACTS

9. Plaintiff Craig Keefe is and has been for three and one-half years a

student at Central Lakes College (CLC) in Brainerd, Minnesota.  He was also enrolled in

the Associate Degree Nursing Program.  The program trains and prepares students to

become registered nurses.  At the time of the incidents giving rise to this lawsuit, Mr.
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Keefe needed to complete one more semester to earn his degree and become eligible for a

license as an RN.  He had previously earned his Licensed Practical Nurse diploma at CLC

and has been working as an LPN.  Mr. Keefe had been simultaneously completing the

Associate Degree Nursing Program in order to advance his career.

10. On December 3, 2012, Mr. Keefe received a phone call from

Defendant Frisch in which she requested that Mr. Keefe attend a meeting with her and

Defendant McCalla on December 6.  Frisch refused to provide any explanation of the

reason for the meeting except that it involved professional boundaries. Mr. Keefe

followed up shortly thereafter with an email to Frisch requesting more explanation of the

reason for the meeting. Frisch sent a responsive email to Keefe the next day, which stated

in part, “I prefer to review the topic with you in person at that time rather that via phone

or email. Please be assured that you do not need to prepare in anyway for our meeting.”

11. Frisch called Keefe again in the late afternoon of December 4,

requesting to move up the meeting to the morning of December 5.  Mr. Keefe again

requested more information about the reason for the meeting. Frisch again refused to

provide further explanation, except that it pertained to CLC’s due process policy and the

right to equal education.

12. Mr. Keefe came to the meeting on December 5 at 10 a.m. as

requested.  McCalla was not there. Defendant Beth Adams was present instead, along

with Frisch. Frisch told Keefe that some comments on his Facebook page were
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disturbing, including the phrase “stupid bitch” and a comment about there not being

enough whiskey for anger management.  She then asked Keefe for an explanation, while

refusing to let him see the documents.  Keefe stated that the comment about whiskey was

a joke, that his Facebook account had been hacked a couple of weeks ago and he had tried

to delete comments which had been posted.  Frisch then told Keefe that he was going to

be removed from the nursing program.  She held up a stack of papers which was allegedly

Keefe’s entire Facebook page and told him she had read the whole page and found it

disturbing.  Frisch refused to allow Keefe to see the documents.  Frisch also refused to

tell Keefe how she accessed his private Facebook page, but stated she realized it was a

violation of his First Amendment rights.  Beth Adams also told Keefe she found his

comment about anger management to be disturbing. Adams and Frisch requested that

Keefe sign a document acknowledging attendance at the meeting and the meeting ended.

13. On December 7, 2012, Mr. Keefe received a letter from Frisch

confirming the decision to remove him from the nursing program.  The reason given was

“behavior unbecoming of the profession and transgression of professional boundaries”

which was “based on the content of you [sic] Facebook page viewed on December 3-5,

2012.”  Frisch’s letter cut and pasted the portion of the Student Handbook which

discussed removal from the Nursing Program, which set forth numerous, mostly general

grounds for removal.  The letter did not specify the grounds upon which Mr. Keefe was

being removed, and did not identify any specific rule or standard that he allegedly
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violated.

14. Frisch’s letter to Keefe notified him of his right to appeal, and

referred Keefe to the CLC’s Student Conduct Code for specific procedures for appeal.

The letter advised Keefe that he had five days to appeal his expulsion to the Vice

President for Student Affairs, Kelly McCalla, pursuant to the due process provisions of

the Student Conduct Code.

15. On December 8, 2012, Keefe sent an email to Frisch setting forth

reasons he had been denied due process, and Student Conduct Code procedures had been

violated.  He reiterate that he had requested and not received a copy of the Facebook

documentation at issue.  Frisch did not respond to the email.

16. On December 11, 2012, Mr. Keefe visited McCalla at his office,

handed him a written letter containing his appeal of the expulsion from the Nursing

Program, and also discussed with McCalla verbally grounds upon which his right to due

process and procedural protections set forth in the Student Conduct Code were violated.

Keefe reiterated his request for a copy of the Facebook documents at issue.  McCalla said

he needed to “revise” the content.  McCalla was holding two pages rather than a pile of

pages that Frisch had.  McCalla also told Keefe the Facebook content he had was from

November 21 rather than December 3-5.  McCalla stated he would have to look into the

discrepancy.  To date, McCalla has never explained the discrepancy and has not kept his

promise to provide Keefe with a copy of the alleged Facebook documents that provided
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the basis for Keefe’s expulsion.

17. On January 2, 2013, McCalla left a voice mail message for Keefe

stating that he was denying Keefe’s appeal.  McCalla stated that he did not find any

violation of due process.  McCalla also stated that he would be sending a formal letter

documenting his decision.  To date, Keefe has not received any written decision in

response to his appeal.

18. On the evening of January 2, Keefe sent an email to McCalla in

response to McCalla’s voice mail message.  Keefe’s email explained the violations of his

due process and the procedures set forth in the Student Conduct Code.  Keefe further

requested a contested case hearing before an administrative law judge which is an option

provided under the Student Conduct Code.  He also again requested a copy of the

Facebook content which was relied on for Keefe’s expulsion.

19. Several days later, McCalla left another voice mail message for

Keefe, stating that Keefe was not entitled to a contested case hearing or any further

appeal.  McCalla asserted that Keefe was removed for an “academic” rather than

“disciplinary” violation under the Conduct Code, and therefore a contested case hearing

was inapplicable.

20. As a result of Defendants’ removal of Keefe from the nursing

program, Keefe has had to enroll in a different program, and therefore abandon his career

aspiration to be a registered nurse.
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21. As a result of Defendants' actions, Plaintiff has suffered and will

continue to suffer mental and emotional distress, embarrassment and humiliation, the

invasion of his person and privacy, economic losses, and other losses and damages.

IV.  CAUSES OF ACTION

22. Plaintiff hereby realleges and incorporates by reference all of the

facts and allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 21 of this Complaint.

23. COUNT 1 - VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 - DENIAL OF

DUE PROCESS.  Defendants, acting under color of state law, deprived Plaintiff Craig

Keefe of his rights, privileges and immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the

United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, in violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth

Amendment Rights to Due Process, by removing him from the academic program in

which he was enrolled and thereby depriving him a protected property and liberty interest

without required procedural protections.  The specific due process violations include but

are not necessarily limited to the following: the failure to provide Mr. Keefe with specific

notice of his alleged violation, including either the factual grounds or the rule(s) allegedly

violation prior to the hearing; failure to provide Mr. Keefe with prior notice of a hearing;

refusal to allow Mr. Keefe to be informed of the evidence against him; failure to conduct

an meaningful hearing where Mr. Keefe could be informed of the allegations against him

and have an adequate chance to be heard; failure to provide a meaningful appeal process

to challenge the disciplinary action against him; and the failure and refusal to follow the
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due process protections set forth in the applicable Student Conduct Code which required

the above described protections as well as an opportunity for a formal hearing after the

initial decision and a contested case hearing following the appeal to the Vice President. 

The expulsion of Mr. Keefe from the Nursing Program for alleged postings on his private

Facebook page was also arbitrary and capricious, thereby violating his right to substantive

due process.

24. COUNT 2 - VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 - FREE

SPEECH.  Defendants, acting under color of state law, deprived Plaintiff Craig Keefe of

his rights, privileges and immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the United

States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, specifically in violation of his First Amendment

Rights to Free Speech, by removing him from an academic program because of he

exercised of his basic and fundamental right to free expression on his personal time and in

a context that has nothing to do with his obligations as a student.

25. COUNT 3 - VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 - FOURTH

AMENDMENT -- UNLAWFUL AND UNREASONABLE SEARCH AND

SEIZURE.  Defendants, acting under color of state law, have deprived Plaintiff Craig

Keefe of his rights, privileges and immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the

United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, by committing acts in violation of the

Fourth Amendment protections against unreasonable searches and seizures by somehow

entering and searching Plaintiff’s private password-protected Facebook account without a
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warrant, consent or other legal justification. 

26. COUNT 4 - VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 - VIOLATION

OF PRIVACY.  Defendants, acting under color of state law, have deprived Plaintiff

Craig Keefe of his rights, privileges and immunities secured by the Constitution and laws

of the United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, by committing acts in violation of

his established Right to Privacy under various provisions of the Bill of Rights, by

somehow entering and searching Plaintiff’s private password-protected Facebook

account.

27.  COUNT 5 - VIOLATIONS OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 -

CONSPIRACY. Defendants, acting under color of state law, deprived Plaintiff of his

rights, privileges and immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the United

States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, by conspiring among themselves and with others

to violate Plaintiff’s rights under the First, Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments, in

connection with the violations of his privacy, free speech and due process.

28. As a result of Defendants' above-described illegal conduct, Plaintiff

has suffered the damages described in paragraph 21 of this Complaint.

V.  RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE Plaintiff prays for Judgment in his favor as follows:

1. Ordering declaratory judgment in favor of Plaintiff by declaring all of

Defendants’ violations of Plaintiff’s rights.
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2.  Granting injunctive relief, including but not limited to ordering Defendants

to immediately reinstate Plaintiff in CLC’s nursing degree program from which he was

removed and correcting any low grades Plaintiff received as a result of his removal from

the program before the end of the semester, and prohibiting Defendants from continuing

to violate Plaintiff’s rights.

3.    Awarding judgment in favor of Plaintiff against the Defendants and each of

them jointly and severally as and for compensatory damages.

4.   Awarding judgment in favor of Plaintiff against the Defendants and each of

them jointly and severally as and for punitive damages.

5.  Awarding Plaintiff all of his costs and disbursements herein, and

prejudgment interest.

6. Awarding Plaintiff reasonable attorney fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

7. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated:  February 8, 2013 LAW OFFICE OF JORDAN S. KUSHNER

      By s/Jordan s. Kushner                       
Jordan S. Kushner, ID 219307
Attorney for Plaintiff      
431 South 7th Street, Suite 2446
Minneapolis, Minnesota  55415  

     (612) 288-0545  
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